# The Use of Cholinesterases in Ecotoxicology

#### **Bruno Nunes**

#### Contents

1	Introduction	29
2	Types of Cholinesterases	32
3	Characterization of Cholinesterases	34
	3.1 Unicellular Organisms	35
	3.2 Earthworms	35
	3.3 Crustaceans	36
	3.4 Molluscs	37
	3.5 Fish	38
	3.6 Reptiles	39
4	Usefulness of Cholinesterase Inhibition in Environmental Monitoring	40
	4.1 Classic Use for Assessing the Environmental Effects	
	of Anticholinesterasic Agents	40
	4.2 Use for Diffuse Contamination Sources	47
5	Future Perspectives for the Use of Cholinesterases in Environmental Assessment	51
6	Summary	52
Re	ferences	53

## 1 Introduction

The need for reproducible and accurate biomarkers in Environmental Toxicology has led researchers to implement methods to evaluate the physiological effects caused by contaminants. Such methods are of particular biological importance and ecological interest if they allow the measurement of direct impairment of key endpoints in the test organisms or nontarget species. Neurotransmission impairment via cholinesterase

B. Nunes  $(\boxtimes)$ 

CIAGEB, FCS-UFP: Global Change, Energy Environment and Bioengineering Unit, Faculdade de Ciências da Saúde da Universidade Fernando Pessoa, Rua Carlos da Maia, 296, 4200-150, Porto, Portugal

and

CESAM-LA, Centro de Estudos do Ambiente e do Mar, Laboratório Associado, Departamento de Biologia, Universidade de Aveiro, Campus de Santiago, 3810-193 Aveiro, Portugal e-mail: bruno@ufp.edu.pt

ChE inhibition is the target of two important classes of modern pesticides, the organophosphates (OPs), and the carbamates (CBs). Because of their extensive use in modern agriculture, these two classes of compounds are widely employed. Metcalfe et al. (2002) estimated for the California Department of Food and Agriculture that the ban from current agricultural use of such compounds would cause the loss of 209,000 jobs and would result in a national economic loss of \$17 billion. Therefore, it is not difficult to conclude that these chemical agents will continue to be used, despite the fact that humans and many nontarget organisms are exposed to them (spray drift from crop application, run off from agricultural fields that contaminate adjacent water bodies, residues in food, etc.) (Vermeire et al. 2001).

Protecting agroecosystems from pesticide effects commonly entails measuring the levels of pesticides that occur in manifold environmental media. The inhibition of cholinesterases (ChEs) is poised to assume a leading role as a tool for monitoring the presence of those classes of pesticides or other agents that are ChE inhibitors, and their use may assist in determining the effects of such compounds on nontarget organisms. Denoyelle et al. (2007) have already provided evidence for what is possible in using such methods, by assessing the effects in apple orchards of certain pesticides on earthworms (*Allolobophora chlorotica*).

The prospective overall importance of ChEs to modern ecotoxicity assessment is high, particularly acetylcholinesterase (AChE). AChE acts to terminate the nervous impulse at the synaptic cleft and is directly involved in the intoxications caused both by the OP and CB pesticides. The toxic effect elicited by both types of pesticides has assured this biomarker a leading role in future environmental analyses. Although the OP pesticides may be hazardous, they are still extensively used in agriculture, and they exhibit certain favorable characteristics; in addition to successfully controlling many economic pests, and the OPs have low environmental persistence (when compared with organochlorine insecticides), low bioaccumulation (Sánchez-Hernandez 2001). These are the main reasons that justify their wide and continuing use, despite the fact that they also have high, nonspecific acute toxicity that can lead to frequent intoxication of nontarget organisms.

ChEs are extremely complex; namely, they display differential forms, expression, biologic functions, location, and catalytic activity. In addition to their involvement in neurodegenerative disorders, ChEs have other biologic functions (Small et al. 1996). These authors enumerated some of the functions that may be attributed to ChEs, including regulation of neurite growth, cell proliferation, tumorigenic processes, cell adhesion molecules, and megakaryocytopoiesis. Mammalian brain AChE (an enzyme that is released by presynaptic neurons during the neuronal communication process), for example, is mainly an enzyme located in postsynaptic neurons, is anchored to the cellular membrane by a single glycosylated protein, and is specialized in the hydrolysis of the neurotransmitter acetylcholine (Boschetti and Brodbeck 1996). AChE is of fundamental importance in terminating the nervous impulse; consequently, the regulation of its synthesis depends on, through a mechanism of feedback, the activation of nerve cells by propagation of an action potential. Schweitzer (1993) showed that AChE, which is mainly located in the postsynaptic cell, is constitutively expressed when nerve cells are resting; however, activation (by depolarization) of these cells leads to the release of AChE molecules to the extracellular space. Furthermore, this author found that the

secretion and release of AChE from nerve cells could be of two types: (1) a constitutive, and (2) a regulated pathway that can be activated following neuronal activity. These two pathways differ not only in the amount of AChE released but also in the preferential (asymmetric and globular) forms that are released. The expression of human AChE is controlled via a number of distinct pathways, one involving cAMP (Wan et al. 2000; Tsim 1998), which can be regulated by a calcitonine gene-related peptide (Tsim 1998).

The physiological role attributed to AChE is not limited only to the regulation of neurotransmission. The involvement of nerve growth factor in the synthesis of AChE was first demonstrated by Greene and Rukenstein (1981), indicating that the activity of this enzyme could also affect the neuronal differentiation processes. More recently, other research has produced evidence of this association. The role of AChE in neurodifferentiation was shown by Deschênes-Furry et al. (2003) and Choi et al. (1998). Yang et al. (2002) demonstrated the potential activity of AChE at the onset of apoptosis in nerve cells, with its potential implication in the neuro-degenerative pathophysiology of certain diseases, such as Alzheimer's Disease. The increased AChE activity observed in neurodegeneration (a characteristic of Alzheimer's disease) is associated with the presence of high concentrations of reactive oxygen and nitrogen species (ROS and RNS, respectively). These results were published by Melo et al. (2003), whose work established a direct linkage between oxidative stress and the enzymatic activity of AChE of the human brain.

Butyrylcholinesterase (BChE), the other ChE present in the majority of vertebrates, is found mainly in the plasma and has an unclear function (Jbilo et al. 1994). However, BChE is thought to be involved in regulation of cell proliferation and the early stages of neuronal differentiation (Mack and Robitzki 2000). In addition to its presence in body fluids, BChE can exist in hematopoietic cells, liver, lung, heart, at cholinergic synapses, in the central nervous system, in tumors and in developing embryonic tissues (Mack and Robitzki 2000).

The use of ChE inhibition has thus become increasingly common among the batteries of biomarkers used in ecotoxicological assessment. Its use is favored because of several attributes, such as sensitivity to a large number of significant environmental contaminants, low cost, easy performance of quantification assays, adaptability to a vast number of species from distinct ecosystems, good reproducibility, and biological/ecological relevance. This latter factor is, indeed, of major importance. Padilla (1995) showed that the assessment of ChE in body fluids of organisms exposed to OP compounds correlated well with levels of ChE inhibition in target organs (namely, the central nervous system), and was closely accompanied by clinical symptoms and behavioral modifications. However, the time course of the intoxication must be assessed frequently, when ChE is employed as a biomarker. The possibility of establishing a direct relationship between ChE inhibition, and the behavioral/biochemical/physiological changes that occur in exposed organisms, is an important factor to consider in environmental analysis. The reason is that altered behavior may have severe population implications that result from potential impairment of reproduction, migration, and predator avoidance.

Inhibition of cholinesterasic activity is also relevant ecologically, because mortality of exposed organisms is a potential outcome. Fulton and Key (2001) highlighted the fact that cholinesterasic inhibition was closely accompanied by a rise in mortality;

much research demonstrates that the survival of aquatic organisms is impaired when inhibition from anti-cholinesterase compound exposure approached 70%. The potential impact of anticholinesterasic agents on animal behavior was shown by Chebbi and David (2009), following exposure of Cyprinus carpio to quinalphos. These authors observed that subsequent to a significant reduction of AChE activity, a major modification occurred in the swimming pattern of the mentioned fish species, such as erratic, darting, and burst-swimming. Pronounced impairment of behavior may constitute an adverse outcome that has evident ecological repercussions. Similarly, data obtained by Sandahl et al. (2005), after they exposed Coho salmon (Oncorhynchus kisutch) to chlorpyrifos, showed that a good correlation was obtained by plotting AChE inhibition against spontaneous swimming and feeding behaviors. Furthermore, this team found a remarkable result: ecologically relevant concentrations of chlorpyrifos could cause significant AChE inhibition and, simultaneously, cause clearly evident behavioral changes. The behavioral changes that result from AChE inhibition are not always obvious (Bain et al. 2004). These authors indicate that the anticholinesterasic effects caused by fenitrothion on the lizard species *Pogona vitticeps* were not followed by any significant modification in prey-capture ability.

The effects that occur concurrently with ChE inhibition may be important at the population level (Duquesne 2006). This author showed that after exposure of the crustacean *Daphnia magna* to paraoxon-methyl, a transient phase occurred during which ChE inhibition was noticeable, and simultaneously, several individual life traits were affected. These traits included survival, reduction in reproductive performance, and a decrease in body size. These population effects were a direct consequence of the toxic effects, and resulted from a reduced rate of population growth.

The neurotoxicity of xenobiotics may also produce effects at the cellular level. After exposure, unicellular organisms may display altered cell morphology and functionality, with consequences at the population level (lower number of cells). Falugi et al. (2002) showed that exposure of the protozoan species to basudin, a neurotoxicant, could result in cholinesterasic inhibition, followed closely by effects such as altered cell morphology, lower cell density, and impairment in the formation of aggregates.

The aim of the present review article is to address practical issues associated with the use of cholinesterase inhibition as a tool to determine the effects that anthropogenic contaminants have on nontarget wild species. In this article, we will also address the following points vis-a-vis ChEs: the need for previous characterization of cholinesterasic forms, the validity of use for field vs. laboratory quantification, main drawbacks as a biomarker, the future potential for use, and relevance for use with several classes of contaminants.

#### 2 Types of Cholinesterases

The nature of the ChEs that exist in vertebrates and invertebrates are quite different. Vertebrates usually possess several distinct molecular forms of the enzyme, whereas invertebrates typically exhibit only one form (Massoulié and Bon 1982). Fournier et al. (1988) showed that the native AChE form present in the insect Drosophila melanogaster was characterized by noncovalent association of two dimeric subunits, resulting from proteolysis of a precursor encoded for by the Ace locus. In contrast, Talesa et al. (1997) demonstrated the presence of two acetylcholinesterasic forms in the annelid species Spirographis spallanzanii; these differed in several characteristics, such as relative amounts present, the way in which they anchored to the membrane and pharmacological properties (namely, different sensitivities to edrophonium or procainamide). Both are amphiphilic globular forms, and the main distinguishing feature between the two enzymes was their different manner of attachment to the cellular membrane. Whereas the predominant form established strong electrostatic interactions with the membrane, the other one was anchored through a phosphatidylinositol linkage. Unlike the forms reported by Fournier et al. (1988), the acetylcholinesterasic forms found by Talesa et al. (1997) were more likely to result from expression of different genes. The acetylcholinesterasic forms found in tissues of Octopus vulgaris by Talesa et al. (1995a) were more complex. These authors found that AChE from this species could be divided into amphiphilic, dimeric, and hydrophilic tetrameric forms that share a common pharmacological relationship with heparin. This tendency was similar for both forms that existed in O. vulgaris, and pointed to the existence of a single gene underlying the expression of AChE.

The ChE forms found in the mollusc species *Mytilus edulis*, *M. galloprovincialis*, and *Corbicula fluminea* were investigated by Mora et al. (1999). These authors reported that the cholinesterasic forms identified in *M. edulis* and *M. galloprovincialis* were almost identical in terms of mass (180 kDa), whereas the form found in the other mollusc species, a clam, had a higher mass (240 kDa). However, all forms shared a similar membrane anchorage in that they were connected by a glycosyl inositol phosphate residue. More recently, representatives of one of these same mussel species (*M. galloprovincialis*), collected in the Adriatic Sea, was analyzed by Talesa et al. (2001), who found three forms of ChE in its tissues. They found two hydrophilic, spontaneously soluble forms (accounting for approximately 80% of all hydrolytic activity) in the hemolymph that had dimeric and globular tetrameric structures. The third form was mainly an amphiphilic globular dimer attached to the cellular membrane by a phosphatidylinositol tail insertion. This form promptly interacted with detergent (such as Triton X-100 and Brij 96) and was likely to undergo self-aggregation.

The existence of highly variable polymorphism of AChE forms in vertebrates was illustrated by Rocío Marcos et al. (1998). The authors isolated, identified, and characterized the AChE present in sheep platelets, and showed the presence of several forms that could be differentiated according to their relative solubility in low- and high-level saline solutions and in detergents. Furthermore, the authors observed that the physical–chemical characteristics of the different forms could account for the differential solubility: the AChE of sheep platelets could be extremely hydrophilic (soluble in aqueous salt solutions) or could be amphiphilic. The amphiphilic, globular, membrane-bound form is thought to be the initial stage in which AChE is found in sheep platelets; however, it can be cleaved as a consequence of the activity of endogenous proteases and phospholipases, or by endogenous chemical reduction.

The cholinesterases present in the medicinal leach, *Hirudo medicinalis*, were also characterized by Talesa et al. (1995b). They found two main types of ChE: a low salt-soluble hydrophilic monomer and a detergent-soluble amphiphilic glycolipid-anchored dimer that differed markedly in terms of substrate preference and inhibitor efficacy.

## **3** Characterization of Cholinesterases

Different forms of ChEs can produce distinct types of hydrolytic capacity. Vertebrates show two main types of enzymes with cholinesterasic activity: AChE and BChE (Massoulié et al. 2008). Both cholinesterasic forms also exist in humans and are simultaneously present in the human brain. These two distinct forms are differentiated on genetic, structural, and kinetic bases. Age also affects the relationship between AChE and BChE, because their relative content varies with progressing age (Giacobini 2004). Other forms of variability also exist. Different AChE forms may result from the alternative splicing of a single gene (Massoulié et al. 2008). Aquatic organisms are also likely to produce different cholinesterasic forms, whose existence may be manifested through their selective affinity for specific inhibitors and/or substrates (Kozlovskaya et al. 1993).

Because of the inherent variability of ChE morphology and hydrolytic activity, one of the mandatory pre-requisites for use of cholinesterase inhibition in environmental analysis is the full characterization of the cholinesterasic form that is present in the tissue of the test organism(s) selected for use. If the most prominent form of a ChE present is not identified, it is impossible to positively identify the cholinesterasic forms for which hydrolytic activity is being assayed. In general, cholinesterase characterization involves using specific inhibitors to establish an inhibition profile of the enzymatic form under study; concurrently, it also involves the study of the substrates that the enzyme prefers.

ChEs belong to the family of enzymes designated as esterases that retain the capability of hydrolyzing carboxylic esters. ChEs can be distinguished from other esterases in that they exhibit a preference for hydrolyzing choline esters rather than other carboxylic esters; ChEs are generally inhibited by physostigmine (eserine) at concentrations in the range of  $10^{-5}$  M (Nunes et al. 2005; Eto 1984). Eserine can also inhibit other esterases (e.g., carboxylesterases) that may be present in the same tissue, and this inhibitory effect is dependent on the substrate used in the enzymatic determinations (Laguerre et al. 2009), as has been reported in the snail species *Xeropicta derbentina*.

ChEs can be classified according to their preference for specific substrates: AChEs have a strong preference for acetylcholine; BChEs prefer butyrylcholine; propionylcholinesterases are better at degrading propionylcholine. Accordingly, numerous studies have been conducted to define the most common types of ChEs that occur in living organisms. In spite of being present in virtually all organisms, marked differences in ChEs have been observed in terms of substrate preference and hydrolytic

activity. Drawing from the points made above, vertebrates and invertebrates possess different types of cholinesterases that must be fully characterized prior to their use as tools in environmental assessment.

## 3.1 Unicellular Organisms

Intermediate hydrolytic characteristics were found in the protozoan *Dictyostelium discoideum* (Falugi et al. 2002). These authors revealed that this protozoan had an enzymatic form with cholinesterasic activity, which preferred acetylcholine and propionylcholine as substrates, whereas butyrylcholine was not metabolized.

## 3.2 Earthworms

ChEs of different natures and structures may exhibit different properties, and the inhibitory effects of specific ones may differ from species to species. One must keep in mind the variability that exists among these enzymes when establishing ecotoxicological assessments, particularly when assessing the toxic effects of pesticides in distinct organisms. The first efforts to characterize ChEs were made during the late 1970s and early 1980s. Andersen et al. (1978) refers to the presence of a cholinesterasic form in tissues of Eisenia foetida that showed a marked preference for propionylthiocholine (PSCh) as a substrate; consequently, this enzyme could neither be classified as an AChE nor as a BChE. However, this enzyme was inhibited by the presence of pesticides (both OPs and CBs), a finding that allowed researchers to conclude that it was a B-esterase. Principato et al. (1978) identified a cholinesterasic form in Allolobophora caliginosa that was inhibited by eserine, and it showed higher catalytic activity when in the presence of the substrate acetylthiocholine (ASCh). These findings led to the conclusion that tissues of this species were likely to have a predominance of AChE, rather than any other form. However, Principato et al. (1989) also characterized the other form as a propionylcholinesterase that could also exist in the same species. Stenersen (1980) found that the tissues of the earthworm E. foetida were rich in two cholinesterasic forms; the predominant form was a propionylcholinesterase, whereas the other form displayed the properties of a nonspecific ChE.

Stenersen et al. (1992) reported that ChEs of three species of earthworms (*Eisenia fetida*, *E. veneta*, and *E. andrei*) could be distinguished by their tendency to be inhibited by the carbamate pesticide carbaryl. *E. andrei* and *E. fetida* had distinct cholinesterasic forms, and one of these could be completely inhibited by carbaryl. The remaining forms were extremely resistant to this pesticide, which may be accounted for by the lack of responsiveness of these species to carbamate exposure. Aamodt et al. (2007) reported the dual role of the ChEs in *E. fetida*. The authors distinguished two cholinesterasic forms, both of which were inhibited by carbaryl. However, one of the forms was promptly regenerated, whereas the second had not recovered, even after 21 days. Such findings are noteworthy, since toxicological

monitoring of anticholinesterasic effects in the wild account for such biological variations, which in turn may explain increased survivals of a particular species.

Modern soil ecotoxicologists may also assess pollution through the use of cholinesterasic inhibition. When doing so, they must provide a full characterization of the cholinesterasic forms present in the test organism that is to serve as the model for toxicological interaction. One example was described by Caselli et al. (2006), when attempting to characterize the cholinesterasic forms present in the earthworm Eisenia andrei. These authors discovered the hydrolytic preference of the ChE present was for ASCh and PSCh; simultaneous inhibition of this enzymatic form was more effective after exposure to BW284C51, a compound that strongly reduced ASCh and PSCh hydrolysis. This chemical, however, only caused a slight inhibitory effect when the substrate used was BSCh. Exposure to tetra(monoisopropyl) pyrophosphortetramide (iso-OMPA) did not elicit any significant inhibitory effect, for all tested substrates. These results suggest the presence of an intermediate cholinesterasic form that can, to a similar extent, simultaneously hydrolyze ASCh and PSCh, without affecting butyrylthiocholine (BSCh). A similar procedure was adopted by Rault et al. (2007), for characterizing the ChEs of several species of earthworms (namely, Lumbricus terrestris, L. castaneus, Aporrectodea nocturna, A. caliginosa, Allolobophora chlorotica, and Aporrectodea rosea). Some observations were extremely interesting: the enzymatic activities were stable during the sampling campaign (12 month), favoring the use of ChE inhibition as an effect criterion during all four seasons. All tested species, with the exception of A. chlorotica, had AChE as the predominant form. This is an extremely important finding, because the quantification of biomarkers, including cholinesterasic activity, is a promising tool in soil ecotoxicity assessment (Scott-Fordsmand and Weeks 2000). However, the use of ChE inhibition as an effect criterion, when assessed in earthworms, is novel and must be further validated under field conditions (Rodríguez-Castellanos and Sanchez-Hernandez 2007a). Earthworms respond to anticholinesterasic compounds, but their response is somewhat unpredictable; issues such as high inter-individual variation must be taken into account and clarified for the successful use of cholinesterasic inhibition with earthworms.

### 3.3 Crustaceans

Varó et al. (2002) showed that the main cholinesterasic forms present in the crustacean species *Artemia salina* and *A. parthenogenetica* were different, despite the phylogenetic proximity of the two species. In fact, the cholinesterasic forms present in these two invertebrates were classifiable neither as AChEs, nor as BChEs. Indeed, these two enzymes retained intermediate characteristics, since their maximum hydrolytic activity was recorded with PSCh.

Forget et al. (2002) studied the hydrolytic profile of the ChEs found in the estuarine copepod species *Eurytemora affinis*. The authors found that AChE was the predominant form among all ChEs, because it preferred ASCh as a substrate. Although it degraded PSCh and butyrylthiocholine, the hydrolysis rates were much slower. Furthermore, a distinct profile existed for this enzyme form that exempted it from being a pseudocholinesterase (PsChE); it lacked responsiveness toward the inhibitor iso-OMPA, but was susceptible to significant inhibition by eserine. Similar results were obtained for the marine copepod *Tigriopus brevicornis* (Forget and Bocquené 1999). These results underscore the importance of using autochthonous species that were previously characterized for cholinesterasic activity in environmental studies conducted in marine and estuarine environments. Stefano et al. (2008) indicated that the most important cholinesterasic form in gill and muscle tissues of the marine scallop *Pecten jacobaeus* was AChE, and this form shared common characteristics with mammalian AChE. The study results showed that the substrate preferred ASCh, and that the hydrolytic activity was almost fully inhibited by BW284c51, which is a specific AChE inhibitor.

The muscle tissue of the crayfish species *Procambarus clarkii* was shown to be rich in both AChE and BChE (Escartín and Porte 1996) but had higher AChE activity.

Key and Fulton (2002) showed that the grass shrimp *Palaemonetes pugio*, possessed AChE as the predominant ChE form, demonstrated by a higher preference for ASCh as a substrate. Furthermore, AChE activity in this species was inhibited by eserine, BW284c51, but not by iso-OMPA, showing that AChE was predominant over other ChEs.

Frasco et al. (2006) identified the main cholinesterasic form present in the eye tissues of the prawn *Palaemon serratus* as AChE. Similarly, the results obtained by Xuereb et al. (2007) showed that the most important ChE in the crustacean *Gammarus pulex* was AChE, because it preferred ASCh as a substrate and was inhibited by BW284c51.

## 3.4 Molluscs

Talesa et al. (2001) characterized the ChEs of *M. galloprovincialis*. These authors found that all forms of ChEs in the tissues of this mussel were likely to prefer ASCh as a substrate, and they found one form that did not hydrolyze butyrylthiocholine. The ChEs found were barely inhibited by compounds such as eserine and paraoxon, and no inhibition was observed for propoxur and diisopropylfluorophosphate. However, these ChEs were especially sensitive to BW284c51, which is a specific inhibitor of AChEs. This finding points to the intermediate hydrolytic characteristics of these ChEs.

An extreme case has been reported by Valbonesi et al. (2003), who observed no cholinesterasic activity for the bivalve species *Tapes philippinarum*. However, the same work showed that AChE was the predominant cholinesterasic form in the tissues of *M. galloprovincialis* and *Ostrea edulis*. These results were an important part of an effort to define an adequate battery of indicator organisms for use in the assessment of agricultural chemical residues (that were rich in anticholinesterasic agents) in the area of the Mediterranean. The authors suggested that both bivalves, *M. galloprovincialis* and *O. edulis*, can be used as suitable test organisms for this

purpose; in contrast, *T. philippinarum* is definitely not an adequate species for such biomonitoring of marine contamination by OP or CB pesticides.

AChE was found by Brown et al. (2004) in the gill homogenates of *M. edulis*. Despite being an invertebrate species, *M. edulis* gill ChE activity was significantly inhibited by exposure to the AChE-specific inhibitor compound BW284c51.

#### 3.5 Fish

The concurrent presence of distinct forms of ChEs in the same organisms also occurs. Varó et al. (2003) showed that the main cholinesterasic form in the brain tissue of the fish *Dicentrarchus labrax* was AChE, whereas muscle tissue simultaneously possessed AChE and BChE. Similar results were obtained by Solé et al. (2008), when assessing the esterasic activity of muscle tissue from the marine fish *Lipophrys pholis*. The authors concluded that the predominant cholinesterasic form present was AChE. A comparable conclusion was obtained by Rodríguez-Fuentes and Gold-Bouchot (2004) for the most predominant ChE form present in brain of the freshwater fish tilapia (*Oreochromus niloticus*). AChE was more abundant in nervous tissue, while atypical forms were more evident in liver and muscle tissues.

Similarly, the study conducted by Arufe et al. (2007) showed that the predominant cholinesterasic form in the gilthead seabream (*Sparus aurata*) larvae was AChE. The authors determined the substrate preference of whole-body cholinesterasic activity of yolk sac seabream larvae and observed a noticeable preference for AChE, followed by propyonylthiocholine, and finally BChE. Additionally, the enzymatic activity of homogenized tissues was almost fully inhibited by BW284c51, indicating the presence of AChE. Jung et al. (2007) also discovered that a considerable portion of the cholinesterasic activity in the muscle tissue of the sole species *Limanda yokohamae* was attributed to BChE. However, the most important form identified in the nervous tissue was AChE.

Sturm et al. (1999a) reported the presence of AChE as the dominant cholinesterasic form in brain tissue of several marine fish species, such as *L. limanda*, *Platichthys flesus*, and *Serranus cabrilla*. This was an indisputable finding because AChE is predominant among all cholinesterasic forms that exist in vertebrate species; however, muscle tissue is somewhat different, in that the simultaneous presence of butyryl- and acetylcholinesterase was observed. One of the major findings described in this paper for this tissue was the responsiveness of the characterized butyrylcholinesterase. This enzymatic form was much more sensitive toward OP pesticides than was AChE; this observation may be important in future marine risk assessment.

Sturm et al. (1999b) characterized the cholinesterasic forms present in the tissues of the freshwater fish species *Gasterosteus aculeatus*. They observed that this enzyme form's capacity to hydrolyze ASCh, and its near complete inhibition by eserine, indicated that this fish had a ChE in its muscle tissue. However, this cholinesterasic form was intermediate in terms of substrate preference, since it could degrade both ASCh and BSCh. The authors postulated that *G. aculeatus* muscle ChE was an atypical PsChE that had intermediate sensitivity to the inhibitory compound BW284C51 (complete inhibitor of AChE in mammals).

Garcia et al. (2000) reported similar results when studying the ChE content of the freshwater fish species *Poecilia reticulata*. These authors found that the main cholinesterasic form present in head tissue of the mentioned species was AChE. In agreement with these results, Nunes et al. (2005) found that the most active cholinesterasic form that existed in nervous tissue of *Gambusia holbrooki* was AChE.

The characterization of the predominant ChE forms present in tissues of *Pomatoschistus microps* was performed by Monteiro et al. (2005). They reported that the ChEs present in the homogenized tissues from the head of the organism had a clear preference for ASCh as a substrate and the reaction was inhibited by BW284C51. The results obtained in the entire head homogenate with iso-OMPA (a common BChE inhibitor) showed that a significant inhibitory effect was possible. These two results are consistent with the possibility that an atypical form of ChE exists and seemed to indicate that there was an intermediate behavior of the ChE present in *P. microps* tissues.

ChEs may be present in tissues other than that of the nervous system and muscles. Wogram et al. (2001) showed that the responsiveness of the butyrylcholinesterase found in tissues (liver and axial muscle) of the freshwater fish species three-spined stickleback (*G. aculeatus*) was clearly higher than was AChE, following exposure to parathion. The importance of the significant inhibition of BChE in liver tissue is high: parathion requires a previous metabolic activation (with consequent formation of paraoxon, the active metabolite), namely, through cytochrome P450 oxidative activity to exert its anticholinesterasic activity. Because liver tissue is rich in cytochrome P450, it is natural that the hepatic BChE form becomes immediately inhibited after parathion metabolism. In general terms, hepatic BChE was 1,000-fold more sensitive than was AChE. This finding is important in terms of use of this species in environmental assessment, since extremely short periods of exposure can be better assessed by the quantification of BChE, rather than AChE activity.

The assessment of the anthropogenic impact on reef ecosystems was also the main concern that drove Leticia and Gerardo (2008) to characterize the ChEs of the fish species *Haemulon plumieri*. These authors reported higher enzymatic activities, specifically measured as AChE, in brain and liver tissues.

#### 3.6 Reptiles

Bain et al. (2004) characterized the plasma cholinesterasic forms that existed in the lizard species *P. vitticeps*. The authors observed that the predominant form present was butyrylcholinesterase. A similar result was obtained by Sanchez-Hernandez and Sanchez (2002) in plasma of the reptile species *Gallotia galloti*. Despite the presence of butyrylcholinesterase in serum, a residual amount of AChE was also present.

The total amount of detected serum BChE constituted 74% of total cholinesterasic activity (Sanchez-Hernandez 2003). However, in this same study it was also shown that brain ChEs were exclusively composed of AChE.

An extensive study was conducted by Schmidt (2003) to characterize the ChE activity of reptiles, which included several species such as the spotted turtle (*Clemmys guttata*), river cooter (*Pseudemys concinna*), logerhead sea turtle (*Caretta caretta*), Texas hornet lizard (*Phrynosoma cornutum*), desert hornet lizard (*P. platyrhinos*), round-tailed hornet lizard (*P. modestum*), eastern cottonmouth rattlesnake (*Agkistrodon piscivorus*), western diamondback rattlesnake (*Crotalus atrox*), American alligator (*Alligator mississippiensis*), and Morelet's crocodile (*Crocodylus moreletii*). For all tested species, brain ChE was predominantly composed of AChE, while plasma was particularly rich in butyrylcholinesterase.

# 4 Usefulness of Cholinesterase Inhibition in Environmental Monitoring

# 4.1 Classic Use for Assessing the Environmental Effects of Anticholinesterasic Agents

The classic role attributed to AChE inhibition in environmental analysis has been related to the assessment of effects caused by exposure to the OP and CB pesticides. These classes of compounds share a common mechanism of toxicity, i.e., both classes exert their toxic action directly on the active catalytic site of AChE, thus preventing the in vivo physiological hydrolysis of the neurotransmitter acetylcholine that is needed to terminate the nerve impulse. Some OPs are initially inactive and require in vivo metabolic activation; such activation may dramatically increase toxicity, as observed by Jokanovic (2001). OPs are thus considered to be irreversible AChE inhibitors, requiring a full de novo synthesis of the inhibited enzyme, whereas CBs may be hydrolyzed and consequently removed from the active binding site (Zinkl et al. 1991). The most prominent consequences of exposure to these agents are neurotransmission/neuromuscular impairment. These agents are widely employed to control the unwanted presence of insect pests, and both classes of pesticides are characterized by their propensity to exert deleterious effects on nontarget species. The effects they induce have been extensively analyzed by quantifying the actions of AChE in exposed organisms. Such effects (enzymatic inhibition) explain the significance of the classic role attributed to AChE inhibition as an effect criterion in Ecotoxicology. The need to define a sensitive marker for anticholinesterasic agents led Magnotti et al. (1994) to study the ChE activity of 28 fish species. Such ChE activity in fish may act as a sentinel for the presence of OP compounds in environmental assessment studies. This research team found that, among all tested species, sea bass and flatfish possessed the highest levels of ChEs, and these two species are thus construed to represent prime candidates for environmental assessment of neurotoxic compounds. In this study, the authors proposed the use of the two mentioned fish species as sentinels to monitor for the presence of anthropogenic agents, such as OP pesticides, hypochlorite-activated organothiophosphates and CB pesticides. Based on the high responsiveness of ChEs from these species, the presence of such compounds can be identified and monitored.

An extensive survey was performed by Chuiko (2000) on the effects of dimethyl 2,2-dichlorovinyl phosphate (DDVP) on ChEs in 11 fish species, (*C. carpio, Abramis brama, A. ballerus, Blicca bjoerkna, Rutilus rutilus, Alburnus alburnus, Leuciscus idus, Perca fluviatilis, Stizostedion lucioperca, Esox lucius, and Coregonus albula).* The results of this study indicated that the inhibitory effects caused by DDVP on AChE and BChE activities in brain and serum were rapidly manifested in these species, and brain and serum AChE was promptly inhibited by the insecticide in a manner similar to that already observed for mammals. However, serum BChE was extremely sensitive to DDVP and was more sensitive than were mammalian ChEs.

ChE inhibition has been a widely applied endpoint to assess exposure of OP and related compounds. In addition to the utility of this biomarker in ecotoxicity, human toxicology investigators have quantified red blood cell ChE inhibition to diagnose OP exposure in humans. MacGregor et al. (2005) showed that human sensitivity to the insecticide dichlorvos was similar to that of other test organisms, such as rodents, primates, and dogs. This is important, because it shows that the physiologic role attributed to ChEs is well preserved among vertebrates and is an accurate and reliable marker of neurotoxicity.

Comparing the sensitivity of anticholinesterasic compounds in invertebrates has been a topic of interest to Sánchez-Hernandez (2007). In his review, several invertebrate organisms were defined as possessing high levels of carboxylesterases (CbE), and the sensitivity of these enzymes to OP pesticides is much higher than that of the AChE present in the central nervous system. Therefore, the levels of CbE must be considered when characterizing the toxic response of such organisms to OP pesticides. Therefore, quantifying CbE, rather than AChE inhibition, after OP pesticide exposure (Sánchez-Hernandez 2007) may be equally or more useful.

There are numerous research articles in the field of Ecotoxicology that address the use of AChE as a biomarker. Sancho et al. (2000) exposed eels (*Anguilla anguilla*) to the CB thiobencarb, and monitored the AChE activity in the eyes of this organism for a period of 1 week after exposure. The authors concluded that AChE inhibition could function as a sensitive and satisfactory biomarker for verifying the exposure of this organism to the tested carbamate. Moreover, the ocular tissues showed that sensory organs are also prone to the inhibitory effects of carbamates.

Varó et al. (2002) showed that AChE inhibition occurred after exposure of two species of *Artemia* (namely *A. salina* and *A. parthenogenetica*) to the insecticides chlorpyrifos and dichlorvos. However, AChE inhibition in both of these crustaceans was not indicative of major toxicological implications AChE activity inhibition was not directly correlated with mortality, since death of exposed organisms only occurred at inhibitions exceeding ~80% of the initial enzymatic activity. These results indicate that this enzyme is extremely sensitive as a potential biomarker for pesticides exposure.

The use of OP and CB pesticides in common agricultural processes may have direct consequences on non-target species (Ferrari et al. 2007). These authors studied the inhibitory effects of the OP insecticide azinphos-methyl (AzMe) and the CB

pesticide carbaryl on juveniles of rainbow trout. They concluded that normal patterns of use of both compounds can exert significant real effects on cholinesterasic forms of both head and muscle tissues in fish.

The effects of chlorpyrifos and carbaryl on AChE of hybrid catfish (*Clarias macrocephalus*  $\times$  *C. gariepinus*) were studied by Somnuek et al. (2007). In this work, test organisms having different body sizes were exposed to sublethal concentrations of the test compounds for a period of 4 days. The endpoint was AChE inhibition and was measured in several tissues: brain, liver, muscle, and gills. The authors observed a marked inhibition of enzyme activity in all tissues. Nevertheless and not surprisingly, AChE inhibition was more prominent in brain tissues. The animals were subjected to a recovery period that was too short to permit a total recovery of the inhibitory effects. These results indicate that deleterious effects caused on non-target species may persist for long periods and may be permanent.

Marine environments are also prone to toxic damage by anti-cholinesterasic agents. Accordingly, Brown et al. (2004) showed that the main cholinesterasic form present in *M. edulis* gill homogenates was responsive to the insecticide azamethiphos (calculated  $IC_{50}$  of 100 mM). However, when *M. edulis* was used as a sentinel species in marine environmental assessment, the AChE present in *its* tissues was less susceptible to significant inhibition and was less responsive than in other marine species. The AChE present in eye tissues of *P. serratus* exhibited extreme sensitivity toward OP and CB pesticide exposure (Frasco et al. 2006). The authors tested exposure to the CB carbofuran and the OP chlorpyrifos-oxon, and concluded that this crustacean could be useful for assessing pesticide contamination in saltwater.

The issue of sensitivity of ChEs was also assessed by Jung et al. (2007). They performed a study to quantify the inhibitory effect caused by the insecticide iprobenfos on both acetyl- and butyryl-cholinesterase of *L. yokohamae*. The study results showed that sensitivity may not only relate to the type of ChE involved in the toxic response, but may also derive from a tissue-specific trend. Despite being extremely sensitive when present in muscle tissue of the test organisms, AChE from the nervous system was rather insensitive to the inhibitory effects caused by iprobenfos. Muscle butyrylcholinesterase activity was also sensitive to inhibition by the tested insecticide. These findings suggest that the selection of the most appropriate tissue is mandatory when assessing environmental effects caused by specific pesticidal agents.

The discussion concerning the sensitivity of cholinesterasic forms to be used in quantifying deleterious biological effects was also addressed by Rodríguez-Fuentes et al. (2008). In their study, these authors refer to the presence of atypical cholinesterasic forms in two species of marine fish, namely *Pleuronectes vetulus* and *Pleuronichthys verticalis*. The authors discovered that *P. vetulus* had a predominance of AChE over BChE in muscle tissue, and that the total length of the fish was a critical experimental variable, in that total cholinesterasic activity was negatively correlated with total body length. Furthermore, no significant effects resulted from gender differences or sampling sites. This later observation is extremely important, because, in this study, two quite different priority sampling sites were defined: (1) a sampling site near the wastewater release point coming from a sewage treatment plant and (2) an off-coast location, far from any apparent human influence. The situation

with *P. verticalis* was different, because the majority of the cholinesterasic activity in muscle derived from the presence of butyrylcholinesterase. Furthermore, the sensitivity of ChE to pesticide inhibition was higher in males than was the sensitivity registered for females.

ChEs found in M. galloprovincialis, M. edulis, and C. fluminea exhibited a similar pharmacological behavior, which was characterized as extremely refractory to OP compound exposure (Mora et al. 1999). This finding was significant, because the authors suggested that this species only be used when particularly heavy contamination of OP pesticides existed, rather than being employed in low-level contaminant (chronic) surveys. A different result was obtained by Dauberschmidt et al. (1997) after exposing zebra mussel (Dreissena polymorpha) to anti-cholinesterasic agents, such as thiometon, disulfoton, and demeton-S-methyl. Despite having identified the presence of ChEs by radiolabeling of the serine residue in the active site, the authors observed an absolute lack of response of ChE to the tested compounds. Furthermore, the calculated ChE activity was extremely low when compared with cholinesterasic activities already reported for other mollusc species. The range of tested concentrations did not elicit any significant effect in terms of cholinesterasic inhibition, even after the death of exposed organisms. These observations allow one to conclude that interspecific differences must always be taken into account, since similar organisms may retain large differences in the nature and levels of enzymes present.

The effectiveness of OP compounds as anticholinesterasic agents was also assessed in reptiles. Sánchez-Hernandez and Walker (2000) observed the inhibitory effects of the insecticides trichlorphon and parathion on serum and brain ChEs of the lizard G. galloti. Besides evaluating the potential inhibitory effects by these OP compounds, the authors also observed that the lizards were less sensitive than were certain other organisms (such as birds or mammals) to the inhibitory effects of the OPs. This same species was again used by Sanchez-Hernandez (2003) to assess the potential impact of agrochemicals on serum BChE activity. The inhibition levels of BChE in animals collected from highly impacted agricultural landscapes were studied in comparison with the results from organisms collected at pesticide-free sampling sites. Results were that the quantification of serum cholinesterase (BChE) in G. galloti was a reliable tool to assess the contamination by anticholinesterasic compounds under field conditions. Similarly, Bain et al. (2004) tested the anticholinesterasic effects of fenitrothion on the Australian lizard species P. vitticeps. This organism was responsive, in terms of ChE inhibition, to the presence of the insecticide. Other than a significant and dose-dependent ChE inhibition, no other evident symptoms (e.g., changes in diurnal body temperature or alterations in standard metabolic rate) were correlated with exposure to this insecticide.

Effects on ChEs, following accidental exposures of non-target organisms in the wild, may not always be transient. Even if the effects derived from that exposure do not culminate in death, medium to long-term effects are likely to occur and are often not benign. This was shown by Sancho et al. (1998), in a study in which Europeans eels (*A. anguilla*) were acutely exposed to the insecticide fenitrothion. After exposure, a batch of organisms immediately analyzed for plasma AChE activity showed a marked inhibition. A second batch of exposed animals was allowed to

recover; however, recovery was only permitted for a limited period (1 week), after which quantification disclosed AChE activity to be lower than for non-exposed organisms. These results provided evidence that physiological impairment may derive from exposure to anthropogenic chemicals and may be sustained for long periods. These authors suggested that the type of inhibition they observed was not transient, and that a de novo synthesis of the impaired enzyme is required for re-establishing normal levels of activity.

Serum BChE and CbE inhibition were used as effect criteria in a field survey conducted by Sanchez et al. (1997). The authors quantified the levels of these enzymes in plasma of the reptile species *G. galloti*. According to the results obtained, these enzymes could be effectively used as biomarkers to assess pesticidal contamination in reptiles. The authors of this study described the significant inhibitory effects caused by parathion on serum BChE and CbE, for a period of 23 days after the initial spraying and exposure. Consequently, the authors sustained the view that these markers can serve as long-term indicators of chemical contamination if assessed in the serum of the mentioned lizard species.

AChE inhibition was also the criterion adopted by Gao and Zhu (2002), when studying the resistance to OP pesticides exhibited by the insect species *Schizaphis graminum*. The authors concluded that the efficacy of the insecticides (or their active metabolites) chlorpyrifos oxon, paraoxon, methyl paraoxon, malaoxon, demeton-S-methyl, and omethoate was similar in all organisms, but the ones that showed higher resistance had higher levels of AChE. In fact, the authors concluded, resistance came from the increased expression of a ChE gene.

Rahman et al. (2000) showed that OP compounds are unlikely to exert a simple inhibitory effect on the ChEs of exposed organisms. The novel phosphorothionate (2-butenoic acid)-3-(diethoxy phosphinothioyl)-methyl ester was shown to be effective on the AChE activity of rodents but could also affect the activity of several ATPases of the exposed animals. In addition, the authors obtained interesting data that pointed to a gender-selective toxicity (larger susceptibility of females) and a greater sensitivity of cholinesterasic forms to the tested compound. Inhibitory profiles of the effects on different enzymes were created by the authors, but it was clear that recovery of enzymatic activities had not occurred after a period of 28 days. These findings underline the importance of ChEs as putative markers for intoxication by OP compounds.

Hai et al. (1997) showed that the freshwater fish species *C. carpio* was sensitive to the inhibitory effects of the insecticide dichlorvos, with substantial AChE inhibition occurring following exposure. However, this compound not only elicited the common and expected effects related to AChE inhibition but also caused major redox impairment, such as effects on superoxide dismutase, catalase, and lipid peroxidation. It was interesting to note that it was possible to establish a relationship between the two endpoints (neurotoxicity vs. oxidative stress). From these results, it is possible to observe that anthropogenic compounds may exert deleterious effects on biota by various pathways. It is absolutely mandatory to establish comprehensive batteries of biomarkers to fully understand the array of toxic responses that may occur in the wild. Risk assessment studies, based on biomarkers (such as quantification of cholinesterasic activity), may be influenced in unpredictable ways by various confounding factors in the real world.

The use of ChE inhibition as an effect criterion was proposed by Sturm et al. (1999b) for assessing the presence of anti-cholinesterasic agents in streams. This research team selected muscle tissue of the freshwater fish species G. aculeatus to assess the combined effects of OP pesticide residues present in the area streams. Their results showed that it was possible to successfully use this biomarker to monitor freshwater environments that are potentially contaminated by OP compounds. The authors reported that the ChE activities measured at several sampling sites varied during the year according to a gradient that corresponded to amounts of organophosphates present. It was concluded that ChE inhibition is a sensitive tool for environmental analysis. The use of fish in biomonitoring programs requires knowledge of the effect of environmental variables on the studied response. For example, cholinesterasic activity in sensitive fish may vary with fluctuations in salinity (Wang et al. 2001). The authors also showed that the neurotoxicity of the CB insecticide aldicarb (evaluated in terms of ChE inhibition) was enhanced in rainbow trout (O. mykiss) but not in hybrid striped bass (*Morone saxatilis*  $\times$  *chrysops*). This finding is important, because during the selection of test organisms for use in biomonitoring, some species possess distinct sensitivities to OPs, and these sensitivities may be affected by the abiotic conditions that exist during toxicant exposure.

The use of living organisms as sentinels of chemical contamination can also be confounded by intrinsic biologic characteristics, such as the age of the test individuals. To study the effects of age on the toxicity of anthropogenic contaminants, Sánchez-Fortún and Barahona (2001) exposed groups of Artemia salina of different ages to the insecticide carbophenothion (ChE inhibitor). Increasing age was responsible for enhanced toxicity. Furthermore, the protective role that a specified compound (e.g., ChE-reactivating oxime 2-pyridine aldoxime methochloride; 2-PAM) exerted on carbophenothion toxicity was addressed in the same study. The results showed that by enhancing the regeneration rate of ChEs, 2-PAM significantly reduced the toxicity of this pesticide. The protection offered by compounds such as 2-PAM can also be used as an indirect biomarker of exposure to anticholinesterasic agents. McInnes et al. (1996) observed that wild birds captured in the vicinity of agricultural fields in which the OP insecticide chlorpyrifos was used had lower levels of ChE, AChE, and BChE, when compared with animals from non-contaminated areas. Furthermore, the tested wildfowl required higher amounts of 2-PAM to reactivate AChE activity, which had an unequivocal sign that the birds suffered OP poisoning. A similar study was conducted by Parsons et al. (1999) to assess the presence of anticholinesterasic pesticide residues that could affect bird colonies located mainly in northeast US estuaries. Evaluation of anticholinesterasic effects was again performed through the use of the reactivating oxime, 2-PAM, which gave positive results of the sort mentioned before: birds from agricultural areas were more likely to suffer symptoms of OP poisoning and to require 2-PAM for regenerating serum ChE levels.

Total AChE inhibition and reactivation were the toxicological parameters selected by Maul and Farris (2005) to show the potential impact of anticholinesterasic agrochemicals on *Cardinalis cardinalis*. The authors found that, despite large fluctuations among the groups of tested individuals, the majority of birds captured in OP-use areas had total ChE activities below the diagnostic threshold. Moreover, reactivation rates were also higher, indicating the usefulness of this parameter as an indicator of OP or CB use. Birds were also the subject of a study undertaken by Iko et al. (2003). These researchers hypothesized that the population decline observed for the mountain plover (*Charadrius montanus*) was possibly associated with a toxic effect caused by agricultural use of OPs. To verify this hypothesis, the work team assessed the serum levels of ChE and found no recent contamination by OPs, as measured by ChE depression; furthermore, potential contamination of wild birds was not confirmed, since no significant differences were observed from animals that came from different areas.

The reactivation of plasma BChE by 2-PAM in *G. galloti* was the best criterion to diagnose exposure to OP and CB pesticides, as shown by Sánchez-Hernández et al. (2004). These authors monitored several populations of this species that existed in specific geographical locations. The organisms captured near agricultural fields had lower serum BChE activities and required higher amounts of 2-PAM.

The Antarctic Ocean is considered to be one of the last pristine environments, and the need to assess anthropogenic pollutant effects of species in it were undertaken by Stefano et al. (2008). They studied the inhibitory effects caused by the pesticides azamethiphos and diisopropylfluorophosphate on the ChEs of *P. jaco-baeus*. These authors found that azamethiphos was highly effective in inhibiting cholinesterasic activity, but diisopropylfluorophosphate did not have this effect.

Arufe et al. (2007) studied the effects of azinphosmethyl on the mortality in relation to AChE in *S. aurata* larvae. The study results demonstrated that this insecticide could exert lethal effects in exposed larvae, and the effects were accompanied by a significant AChE inhibition. The relevance of the results obtained by Xuereb et al. (2007) was discussed after they assessed the effects of the OP insecticide chlorpyrifos on ChEs of *G. pulex*. They concluded that the mortality of individuals of this crustacean species occurred at AChE inhibitions of approximately 50% of the initial activity. This means that lethal results can be produced at ecologically relevant concentrations of chlorpyrifos.

The toxic effects of commercial formulations (mixtures), rather than only the technical compounds are important in environmental toxicology. Gambi et al. (2007) showed the differences between the pesticide carbaryl and its commercial formulation on the enzyme kinetics of the earthworm *Eisenia andrei*. The effects of the single compounds and formulated pesticides were somewhat similar in inhibiting AChE. However, when the inhibition was time- and dose-correlated, differences existed in the way the exposure occurred. Notwithstanding, the authors emphasized the importance of AChE inhibition as an effect criterion for pesticide exposure in earthworms. Earthworms are often the unintended targets of pesticides, and when they interact it often culminates in lethal effects. To evaluate the impact of pesticides on earthworms, Panda and Sahu (2004) quantified the extent of AChE inhibition that occurred in tissues of the oligochaete Drawida willsi, after exposure to three common insecticides (butachlor, malathion, and carbofuran). These authors observed a significant decrease of AChE activity after exposure to the last two compounds, and this effect persisted for periods ranging from 45 to 75 days. This result indicates the potential deleterious effect that may be derived from pesticide use, even when the use is at levels that give ecologically relevant dosages.

The environmental toxicity of OP pesticides is not limited to immediate or acute effects, as illustrated in a study of the interaction of OPs and ChEs to assess the ecotoxicological impact of pesticides in earthworms (*E. fetida* and *L. terrestris*) (Rodríguez-Castellano and Sanchez-Hernandez 2007b). These authors observed the phenomenon of ChE "aging," which depends upon the release of an alkyl group from the OP–ChE complex, following the inhibition of ChE activity by OPs. This release has a direct consequence: the enzyme can no longer be reactivated, neither spontaneously, nor by the activity of reactivating chemicals, such as pralidoximes. This "aging" of ChEs in earthworms is highly dependent on the chemical structure of the OP pesticide tested, and may possibly be reverted through the use of pralidoxime; consequently, the amount of the antidote used to reactivate inhibited ChEs in earthworms can serve as a contamination index to evaluate OP pesticidal contamination.

Intoxication and inhibition of ChEs by OP compounds is usually followed by a period of recovery. The study by Barata et al. (2004) reported such behavior sensitivity and recovery efficacy of AChE and CbE in juveniles of the freshwater crustacean *D. magna*. In general, CbE was most sensitive to the OPs malathion, and chlorpyrifos; however, both enzymes had equal sensitivity to the CB carbofuran. Recovery rates were similar for all three tested compounds and for both enzymes, since a period of 12–96 h was sufficient to mitigate the inhibitory effects. The environmental significance of this research article was subsequently underscored by other observations that were clear in showing that exposure to OPs and CBs have different consequences. The mortality rates of *D. magna* juveniles increased after OP pesticide inhibition of about 50% of the basal AChE activity; in contrast, carbofuran caused a more pronounced response, since mortality was significantly increased after a very slight AChE inhibition. It is assumed that these results have ecological importance, because they demonstrate that mechanistically similar compounds may have distinctly different outcomes in terms of lethality.

The cholinesterases present in muscle tissue of the crayfish *P. clarkii* were responsive to high concentrations of the insecticide fenitrothion (Escartín and Porte 1996). Both AChE and BChE were significantly inhibited after exposure to a concentration of 20  $\mu$ g/L. The AChE inhibitory response was dose-dependent; death resulted after reaching AChE inhibition rates of between 39 and 42%. The time course of the intoxication showed that the enzyme inhibition was long lasting. According to the mathematical model that described the recovery kinetics of this intoxication, the predicted time of recovery for muscle AChE was 29 days; therefore, the mode of action of OPs implies a definitive, irreversible inhibition of the affected enzyme, requiring de novo synthesis.

## 4.2 Use for Diffuse Contamination Sources

Malany et al. (1999) showed that AChE hydrolytic activity was highly dependent upon the electrostatic environment in which hydrolysis takes place. The enzyme itself shows a strong electrostatic dipole that is believed to be important for its hydrolytic capacity. In most AChE forms, the movement of substrates into the catalytic gorge is favored for cationic molecules, such as acetylcholine (Massoulié et al. 2008). It is thus licit to affirm that AChE activity may be theoretically modulated by many ionic interactions with charged substances that may exist in the environment, namely those deriving from anthropogenic activities. In fact, several studies point to the establishment of an allosteric interaction, not in the active site, but in a distinct segment of the protein, that can explain the inhibition observed for some agents (Kitz et al. 1970). The use of AChE inhibition for environmental analysis has been traditionally linked to pesticide contamination of the aquatic and terrestrial compartments. However, the alleged versatility of AChE inhibition, as an effect criterion after exposure to other non-specific classes of contaminants, has led researchers to employ this biomarker in broad studies for the assessment of effects of diffuse sources of contamination. Kopecka et al. (2004) offers a good example of this trend, since these authors suggested that AChE inhibition be used in selected species to evaluate the anthropogenic contamination status in the area of the Gulf of Gdansk (Baltic Sea, Poland). The authors found that, in general terms, AChE inhibition (measured in gill tissue of the mussel species Mytilus trossulus, and also in the muscle tissue of the fish P. flesus) followed the patterns and gradients of contamination, mainly resulting from the presence of hydrocarbon runoff (from accidental oil spills), port activities, and domestic and industrial sewage discharges.

#### 4.2.1 Metals

Inhibition of ChEs was reported for a significant number of non-OP pesticides; compounds such as metals or detergents have been found to significantly inhibit in vitro AChE activity in sensitive species, such as *P. reticulata* (Garcia et al. 2000). However, these results seem contradictory with the results published by Romani et al. (2003), who showed that chronic exposure of the fish species *S. aurata* to sublethal concentrations of metallic copper could result in an increase of acetylcholinesterasic activity, both in muscle and brain tissue.

Despite the above-mentioned studies, the point concerning significant interference of metals by AChE (Frasco et al. 2005) suggests that this trend may be an artifact. According to Frasco et al. (2005), AChE inhibition by metals may not be an actual inhibition and may not derive from interference with the catalytic activity of the enzyme. Rather, the inhibition may result from an interference with an important particle present in the reactive medium. The most common methodology employed for determining AChE activity was developed by Ellman et al. (1961). Their method is one in which the enzymatic catalytic activity is responsible for cleavage of the artificial substrate ASCh; this leads to the formation of thiocholine, which in turn reacts with Ellman's reagent (5,5'-dithiobis(2-nitrobenzoic acid; DTNB)) to form a colored complex that can be assessed at a wavelength of 412 nm. Metals, as observed by the authors, can react with all particles present in the reaction media, reducing the formation of the colored complex, and, thereby, leading to the erroneous conclusion that AChE is being inhibited. These observations are only relevant under in vitro conditions, because exposure in living organisms cannot be measured the same way. This may explain the results obtained by Cunha et al. (2007), when they studied the potential effects of metallic species on ChEs of the gastropods *Monodonta lineata* and *Nucella lapillus*. These authors observed that cadmium increased the ChE activity of *N. lapillus*, whereas no effects were observed on the ChE of *M. lineata* following in vivo exposure. However, in vitro copper exposure decreased the ChE activity of both species, but exposure in vivo was incapable of exerting any effects.

Several examples of published studies indicate the lack of in vivo response of ChEs to metals. Corsi et al. (2004) showed that the cholinesterasic forms present in the scallop *Adamussium colbecki* were refractory to zinc metal exposure, compromising its use in biomonitoring programs for assessing metal contamination in Antarctica. Metallic compounds, such as zinc, copper, and cadmium, were incapable of inducing any sensitive modification in ChE activity from the digestive gland of the snail species, *Helix aspersa* (Dahm et al. 2006). Lead was used to study the influence of metals on several parameters in the grasshopper species *Aiolopus thalassinus* (Schmidt and Ibrahim 1994); these authors observed that lead was capable of significantly inducing ChE activity in this insect. Stefano et al. (2008) reported a high refractory behavior of the ChEs of *P. jacobaeus* after in vitro exposure to zinc; however, the same enzymes were dose-dependently inhibited by cadmium. These apparently contradictory results show that metallic inhibition of ChEs is entirely dependent on the chemical species tested.

The discussion on the feasibility of using ChE inhibition to assess metal toxicity is directly connected to the dose needed to exert a deleterious effect. Sánchez-Hernandez (2001) is quite clear about this point. The concentrations of a metallic species needed to cause a significant ChE inhibition in test organisms is incomparably higher than the amounts of pesticide needed to cause a similar effect. It is not plausible that such high concentrations will ever, in fact, be commonly attained under normal environmentally relevant conditions. Hence, wild organisms are not expected to succumb to effects from metal exposure that results from ChE inhibition.

#### 4.2.2 Surfactants, Detergents, and Other Organic Compounds

Guilhermino et al. (2000) reported a significant inhibition of AChE by surfactant agents in the crustacean species *D. magna*. The authors monitored the influence on these daphnids of the detergents dodecyl benzyl sulfonate, sodium dodecylsulphate (SDS), and a commercial domestic formulation and concluded that all agents were capable of inhibiting AChE, following both in vitro and in vivo exposures. However, Nunes et al. (2005) observed that the alleged inhibitory effect initially reported may derive from the specific physical effect of the detergent activity of such compounds. This work showed that after homogenizing the nervous tissue of a test organism, detergents (such as SDS) tend to form micelles that dissolve portions of cellular membranes. These micelles integrate AChE that is lipid-bound to cellular membranes and prevent the enzyme from interacting with the chemicals used in the

Ellman assay. Such micelles can be reverted by modifying the dieletric constant of buffered media by adding ethanol. Ethanol destabilizes the micelles and results in the release of membrane-bound AChE. By adding ethanol the authors were able to reduce the inhibitory effects of SDS. This suggests that the inhibitory effects caused by exposure to detergents may be a protocol artifact. Li (2008) showed that inhibition of ChE of the planarian species *Dugesia japonica* by detergents or surfactants was clearly dependent on the chemical structure of the compound. This author found that ChE inhibition was possible after exposure of test organisms to Hyamine 1622, pentadecafluorooctanoid acid, perfluooctane sulfonate, and four nonylphenol. In contrast, exposure of planarians to Triton X-100 caused a significant increase in cholinesterasic activity. From these results, no clear pattern arose, indicating that any general conclusion of ChE inhibition by these chemicals is uncertain.

Gonçalves et al. (2010) showed that no effects occurred after acute in vivo exposure of *G. holbrooki* to two types of detergents: anionic (sodium dodecyl sulfate) and cationic (benzalkonium chloride) compounds. Despite the different typology of the tested substances, no evidence existed to show AChE impairment. From these results, again no clear pattern emerged, which leaves doubt that these ChEs are actually inhibited by these chemicals.

The inhibition of AChE by nonspecific agents was referred to by Pham et al. (2010), when they were considering the biological and environmental effects caused by ionic liquids. These authors published an extensive review about the putative effects of ionic liquids, and observed that they could impair a large number of physiologic pathways, such as oxidative homeostasis, AMP deaminase, and most importantly, AChE inhibition.

Solé et al. (2008) showed the utility of AChE inhibition in marine Ecotoxicology. The authors observed a significant inhibition of muscle tissue AChE in the fish *L. pholis*, probably from exposure to neurotoxic compounds present in the marine environment that derive from urban and industrial pollution along the Portuguese Atlantic coast. Klumpp et al. (2007) employed ChE inhibition as a tool to assess anthropogenic effects on the marine fish *Plectropomus leopardus* taken from the Great Barrier Reef. They concluded that ChE was inhibited in fish captured at sampling sites located near pontoons, indicating that man-made chemicals are impacting these areas by exerting deleterious effects on wildlife. The fish species *H. plumieri* can be a sensitive species for assessing the effects of man-made chemicals in reef ecosystems (Leticia and Gerardo 2008). The results of this study showed that the AChE present in the tissues of this species was inhibited by chlorpyrifos and benzo(a)pyrene, which were used as model pollutants. This finding affirmed the potential role for this marine organism as a bioindicator species for monitoring organic chemical contamination.

With the aim of using standardized tools in a future biomonitoring programs adapted to the Antarctic region, Bonacci et al. (2009) studied the potential for using ChE activity in gill from the scallop species, *A. colbecki*. This project allowed the researchers to observe significant cholinesterasic inhibition following in vitro exposure of gill tissue to a combination of Aroclor 1260 (a polychlorinated benzene mixture) and to EPA 610 (a mixture of 16 polyaromatic hydrocarbons).

# 5 Future Perspectives for the Use of Cholinesterases in Environmental Assessment

From the studies reviewed in this article one can clearly conclude that ChE inhibition may be a valid tool for ecotoxicological assessment of anthropogenic and natural chemicals. However, its valid use requires knowledge about the biological function, forms, and especially, the types of inhibitory interactions of CHEs that may derive from the presence of several chemical classes in the environment. A summary of the main points researchers should remember when employing ChE inhibition assays is as follows:

- 1. Most important for researchers wanting to rely on ChE-based assessment is to characterize the catalytic properties of the enzyme(s) used; the details on the predominant form of ChEs present in a given tissue of a specific species must be known. As observed for a large number of research articles, ChE characterization is an important underpinning for successful use, particularly when using an unknown species in field studies. Without a positive identification of the type and activity of the cholinesterasic form in tissues of a given species, it will be impossible to express results in terms of a specific cholinesterasic form. Moreover, if one does not know, in detail, the predominant cholinesterasic form present in the evaluated organism, then quantifying the basal levels of enzymatic activities for all isozymes will be rendered impossible. After the forms present are known, one can also successfully test for sensitivity in field monitoring surveys, which may enhance the value of any ecotoxicity assessment.
- 2. Results show that ChEs are not only different in their substrate affinity/inhibition, but can also be distinct in molecular terms; to differentiate ChE forms, electrophoresis analysis can be a useful tool to discriminate the trends in molecular weight of the enzymatic forms present. Electrophoresis may also be useful for understanding the behavior of carboxylesterases and their isozymes, which are also sensitive to the presence of pesticides in the wild (Kristoff et al. 2010).
- 3. Researchers must define the mechanisms by which ChE inhibition may occur if at all possible. Without knowing the inhibition mechanism one cannot be certain that results may be affected by artifacts. Indeed, it is possible to overestimate the importance of ChE inhibition as an effect criterion in environmental studies if one does not know the molecular mechanisms that underlie inhibition. What has been found to occur with metallic species and detergents are paradigmatic: some metals and tensioactive compounds are able to significantly inhibit ChE activity in several organisms but only when using in vitro approaches. This means that the enzyme, under in vivo conditions is a actual contaminated field, may or may not be inhibited, because in vitro results may or may not predict those that will occur in vivo. Furthermore, the use of standardized assays that are based on the catalytic activity of an enzyme and a colorimetric reaction (e.g., Ellman method), and occur in a water-based buffered medium, are subject to several confounding factors. When in vitro conditions are used to study the mechanistic aspects of the toxic response, it is common to incubate contaminants with cellular suspensions.

Under such conditions, the contaminant that is being tested may react (e.g., metallic compounds) or otherwise make unviable (e.g., detergents), the chemical reactions that underlie the testing protocol.

- 4. Researchers who employ cholinesterasic inhibition as an effect criterion must consider the different sensitivities that exist from organism to organism. One can find species that are refractory to common anticholinesterasic agents, whereas others are extremely sensitive.
- 5. The biological implications of enzymatic inhibition must also be analyzed, because they may represent pronounced behavioral changes that possess ecological relevance or may cause serious ecosystem imbalances in a test system.

The manifold data collected in recent years from the profusion of studies on ChE inhibition as an effect criterion is ample proof of the viability of this monitoring tool. Cholinesterasic inhibition has been used in laboratory-based bioassays, in field monitoring of OP and CB pesticide exposure, and as an indirect measure or diagnostic parameter of contamination. This method has also been used as an analytical tool to improve the understanding of the relationship between chemicals and biological structures present in different species. However, the diversity of ChEs (differentiated by their chemical nature, form, type, hydrolytic activity, inhibition profile, and sensitivity to common pesticides) sometimes confounds the understanding of how contaminants can threaten wildlife. To avoid confounding factors, it is mandatory that critical steps be developed to allow the correct and useful employment of ChE assessment in the environmental sciences.

## 6 Summary

Cholinesterase (ChE) is one of the most employed biomarkers in environmental analysis. Among ChEs, potentially the most significant in environmental terms is acetylcholinesterase (AChE), an enzymatic form that terminates the nerve impulse. Because of its physiological role, AChE has long been considered a highly specific biomarker for organisms exposed to anticholinesterasic agents, primarily agrochemicals (organophosphate and carbamate pesticides). The effects of these pesticides depend upon their selective inhibition of AChE. Because large amounts of such pesticides are employed, it is plausible that they exert neurotoxic effects on some non-target species. Therefore, AChE is among the most valuable of diagnostic tools that can be used to verify exposure to such chemical agents. It is well known that assays are available for use in quantifying AChE in multiple tissues of several test organisms. Enzymes other than AChE (e.g., butyrylcholinesterase and carboxylesterases) have also been used as putative markers for detecting the environmental presence of contaminating compounds. Researchers must use a step-bystep approach to identify the most prominent cholinesterasic form present in a given species, so that this form can be distinguished from others that may interfere with its use. Such fundamental work must be completed prior to using ChEs for any monitoring to assess for anticholinesterasic effects.

Despite massive employment in environmental analysis, using ChE inhibition as an endpoint or effect criterion has been unsettled by the discovery that ChEs may interact in the environment in previously unknown ways. Several chemicals, in addition to anticholinesterasic pesticides, are now known to inhibit ChE activity. Such chemicals include detergents, metals, and certain organic compounds such as hydrocarbons. The situation is made worse, because the literature is contradictory as to the ability of such chemicals and elements to interact with ChEs. Some results indicate that ChE inhibition by metals, detergents, and complex mixtures do not or are unlikely to occur. These problems and contradictions are addressed in this review.

It is our purpose in this review to address the following practical issues related to the ChEs:

- 1. The situations and organisms in which ChEs have been employed as biomarkers in laboratory trials, and the need to fully characterize these enzymatic forms before they are used for environmental assessment purposes.
- 2. The ways in which the ChEs have been used in field monitoring, and the potential for use of other complimentary markers to diagnose organophosphate exposure, and how drawbacks (such as the absence of reference values) can be overcome.
- 3. What requirements must be satisfied prior to implementing the use of ChEs as biomarkers in species not yet studied.
- 4. How direct linkages have been established between ChE inhibition and effects from inhibition observed at higher levels of integration (e.g., behavioral changes and population effects, or other indices of ecological relevance).
- 5. The potential for ChE inhibition to be applied as an effective parameter of toxicity to detect for the environmental presence of compounds other than the organophosphate and carbamate pesticides, and the limitations associated therewith.

**Acknowledgments** The present work was funded by projects "BiOtoMetal" (PTDC/AMB/ 70431/2006). We would like to acknowledge the contribution of Sérgio Barreira, for his most appreciated scientific comments and chemical expertise.

## References

- Aamodt S, Konestabo HS, Sverdrup LE, Gudbrandsen M, Reinecke SA, Reinecke AJ, Stenersen J (2007) Recovery of cholinesterase activity in the earthworm *Eisenia fetida* Savigny following exposure to chlorpyrifos. *Environ Toxicol Chem* 26(9): 1963–7.
- Andersen RA, Aune T, Barstad JAB (1978) Characteristics of cholinesterase of the earthworm *Eisenia foetida. Compar Biochem Physiol Part C: Compar Pharmacol* **61**(1): 81–87.
- Arufe MI, Arellano JM, García L, Albendín G, Sarasquete C (2007) Cholinesterase activity in gilthead seabream (*Sparus aurata*) larvae: characterization and sensitivity to the organophosphate azinphosmethyl. *Aquat Toxicol* 84: 328–336.
- Bain D, Buttemer WA, Astheimer L, Fildes K, Hooper MJ (2004) Effects of sublethal fenitrothion ingestion on cholinesterase inhibition, standard metabolism, thermal preference, and prey-capture ability in the Australian central bearded dragon (*Pogona vitticeps*, Agamidae) *Environ Toxicol Chem* 23(1): 109–16.

- Barata C, Solayan A, Porte C (2004) Role of B-esterases in assessing toxicity of organophosphorus (chlorpyrifos, malathion) and carbamate (carbofuran) pesticides to *Daphnia magna*. Aquat Toxicol 66: 125–139.
- Bonacci S, Corsi I, Focardi S (2009) Cholinesterases in the Antarctic scallop Adamussium colbecki: Characterization and sensitivity to pollutants. Ecotoxicol Environ Saf 72: 1481–1488.
- Boschetti N, Brodbeck U (1996) The membrane anchor of mammalian brain acetylcholinesterase consists of a single glycosylated protein of 22 kDa. *FEBS Letters* **380**: 133–136.
- Brown M, Davies IM, Moffat CF, Redshaw J, Craft JA (2004) Characterisation of choline esterases and their tissue and subcellular distribution in mussel (*Mytilus edulis*) Mar Environ Res 57: 155–169.
- Caselli F, Gastaldi L, Gambi N, Fabbri E (2006) In vitro characterization of cholinesterases in the earthworm *Eisenia andrei*. *Comp Biochem Physiol, Part C* **143**: 416–421.
- Chebbi SG, David M (2009) Neurobehavioral responses of the freshwater teleost, *Cyprinus carpio* (Linnaeus.) under quinalphos intoxication. *Biotechnol Animal Husband* **25**(3-4): 241–249.
- Choi RCY, Yama SCY, Hui B, Wan DCC, Tsim KWK (1998) Over-expression of acetylcholinesterase stimulates the expression of agrin in NG108–15 cells. *Neurosci Lett* 248: 17–20.
- Chuiko GM (2000) Comparative study of acetylcholinesterase and butyrylcholinesterase in brain and serum of several freshwater fish: specific activities and in vitro inhibition by DDVP, an organo-phosphorus pesticide. *Compar Biochem Physiol, part C Toxicol Pharmacol* **127**(3): 233–42.
- Corsi I, Bonacci S, Santovito G, Chiantore M, Castagnolo L, Focardi S (2004) Cholinesterase activities in the Antartic scallop *Adamussium colbecki*: tissue expression and effect of ZnCl<sub>2</sub> exposure. *Mar Environ Res* **58**: 401–406.
- Cunha I, Mangas-Ramirez E, Guilhermino L (2007) Effects of copper and cadmium on cholinesterase and glutathione S-transferase activities of two marine gastropods (*Monodonta lineata* and *Nucella lapillus*). Compar Biochem Physiol, Part C 145: 648–657.
- Dahm KCS, Rückert C, Tonial EM, Bonan CD (2006) In vitro exposure of heavy metals on nucleotidase and cholinesterase activities from the digestive gland of *Helix aspersa*. Compar Biochem Physiol, Part C 143: 316–320.
- Dauberschmidt C, Dietrich DR, Christian Schlatter C (1997) Esterases in the zebra mussel Dreissena polymorpha: activities, inhibition, and binding to organophosphates. Aquat Toxicol 37(4): 295–305.
- Denoyelle R, Rault M, Mazzia C, Mascle O, Capowiez Y (2007) Cholinesterase activity as a biomarker of pesticide exposure in *Allolobophora chlorotica* earthworms living in apple orchards under different management strategies. *Environ Toxicol Chem* 26(12): 2644–9.
- Deschênes-Furry J, Bélanger G, Perrone-Bizzozero N, Jasmin BJ (2003) Post-transcriptional Regulation of Acetylcholinesterase mRNAs in Nerve Growth Factor-treated PC12 Cells by the RNA-binding Protein HuD. J Biolog Chem 278(8): 5710–5717.
- Duquesne S (2006) Effects of an organophosphate on *Daphnia magna* at suborganismal and organismal levels: Implications for population dynamics. *Ecotoxicol Environ Saf* **65**: 145–150.
- Ellman GL, Courtney KD, Andres V, Featherstone RM (1961) A new and rapid colorimetric determination of acetylcholinesterase activity. *Biochem Pharmacol* 7: 88–95.
- Escartín E, Porte C (1996) Acetylcholinesterase Inhibition in the Crayfish *Procambarus clarkii* Exposed to Fenitrothion. *Ecotoxicolo Environ Saf* **34**: 160–164.
- Eto M (1984) Organophosphorus Pesticides: Organic and Biological Chemistry. Ohio: CRC Press, Inc. 1974.
- Falugi C, Amaroli A, Evangelisti V, Viarengo A, Delmonte Corrado MU (2002) Cholinesterase activity and effects of its inhibition by neurotoxic drugs in *Dictyostelium discoideum*. *Chemosphere* **48**: 407–414.
- Ferrari A, Venturino A, Pechén de D'Angelo AM (2007) Muscular and brain cholinesterase sensitivities to azinphos methyl and carbaryl in the juvenile rainbow trout Oncorhynchus mykiss. Compar Biochem Physiol, Part C 146: 308–313.
- Forget J, Livet S, Leboulenger F (2002) Partial purification and characterization of acetylcholinesterase (AChE) from the estuarine copepod *Eurytemora affinis* (Poppe). *Compar Biochem Physiol Part C* 132: 85–92.

- Forget J, Bocquené G (1999) Partial purification and enzymatic characterization of acetylcholinesterase from the intertidal marine copepod *Tigriopus brevicornis*. *Compar Biochem Physiol Part B* **123**: 345–350.
- Fournier D, Bride JM, Karch F, Bergé JB (1988) Acetylcholinesterase from *Drosophila melano*gaster – Identification of two subunits encoded by the same gene. *FEBS Letters* 238(2): 333–337.
- Frasco MF, Fournier D, Carvalho F, Guilhermino L (2006) Cholinesterase from the common prawn (*Palaemon serratus*) eyes: Catalytic properties and sensitivity to organophosphate and carbamate compounds. *Aquat Toxicol* 77: 412–421.
- Frasco MF, Fournier D, Carvalho F, Guilhermino L (2005) Do metals inhibit acetylcholinesterase (AChE)? Implementation of assay conditions for the use of AChE activity as a biomarker of metal toxicity. *Biomarkers* 10(5): 360–375.
- Fulton MH, Key PB (2001) Acetylcholinesterase inhibition in estuarine fish and invertebrates as an indicator of organophosphorus insecticide exposure and effects. *Environ Toxicol Chem* **20**: 37–45.
- Gambi N, Pasteris A, Fabbri E (2007) Acetylcholinesterase activity in the earthworm *Eisenia* andrei at different conditions of carbaryl exposure. *Compar Biochem Physiol, Part C* 145: 678–685.
- Gao JR, Zhu KY (2002) Increased expression of an acetylcholinesterase gene may confer organophosphate resistance in the greenbug, *Schizaphis graminum* (Homoptera: Aphididae). *Pesticide Biochem Physiol* 73: 164–173.
- Garcia LM, Castro B, Ribeiro R, Guilhermino L (2000) Characterization of cholinesterase from guppy (*Poecilia reticulata*) muscle and its in vitro inhibition by environmental contaminants. *Biomarkers* 5(4): 274–284.
- Giacobini E (2004) Cholinesterase inhibitors: new roles and therapeutic alternatives. *Pharmacological Res* **50**: 433–440.
- Gonçalves A, Padrão J, Gonçalves F, Nunes B (2010) In vivo acute effects of several pharmaceutical drugs (diazepam, clofibrate, clofibric acid) and detergents (sodium dodecyl-sulphate and benzalkonium chloride) on cholinesterases from *Gambusia holbrooki*. *Fresenius Environ Bull* 19(4): 628–634.
- Greene LA, Rukenstein A (1981) Regulation of Acetylcholinesterase Activity by Nerve Growth Factor. *J Biolog Chem* **256**(12): 6363–6367.
- Guilhermino L, Lacerda MN, Nogueira AJA, Soares AMVM (2000) In vitro and in vivo inhibition of *Daphnia magna* acetylcholinesterase by surfactant agents: possible implications for contamination biomonitoring. *Sci Tot Env* 247: 137–141.
- Hai DQ, Ilona Varga Sz, Matkovics B (1997) Organophosphate effects on antioxidant system of carp (*Cyprinus carpio*) and catfish (*Ictalarus nebulosus*). *Compar Bioch Physiol* **117C**(1): 83–88.
- Iko WM, Archuleta AS, Knopf FL (2003) Plasma cholinesterase levels of mountain plovers (*Charadrius montanus*) wintering in central California, USA. *Environ Toxicol Chem* 22(1): 119–25.
- Jbilo O, Toutant JP, Vatsis KP, Chatonnet A, Lockridge O (1994) Promoter and Transcription Start Site of Human and Rabbit Butyrylcholinesterase Genes. J Biolog Chem 269(33): 20829–20837.
- Jokanovic M (2001) Biotransformation of organophosphorus compounds. *Toxicology* **166**: 139–160.
- Jung JH, Addison RF, Shim WJ (2007) Characterization of cholinesterases in marbled sole, *Limanda yokohamae*, and their inhibition in vitro by the fungicide iprobenfos. *Mar Environl Res* 63: 471–478
- Key PB, Fulton MH (2002) Characterization of cholinesterase activity in tissues of the grass shrimp (*Palaemonetes pugio*). *Pesticide Biochem Physiol* 72: 186–192.
- Kitz RJ, Braswell LM, Ginsburg S (1970) On the question: is acetylcholinesterase an allosteric protein? *Molecular Pharmacol* 6: 108–121.
- Klumpp D, Humphrey C, King SC (2007) Biomarker responses in coral trout (*Plectropomus leopardus*) as an indicator of exposure to contaminants in a coral reef environment. *Austral J Ecotoxicol* 13: 9–17.

- Kopecka J, Rybakowas A, Barsiené J, Pempkowiak J (2004) AChE levels in mussels and fish collected off Lithuania and Poland (southern Baltic). *Oceanologia* **46**(3): 405–418.
- Kozlovskaya VI, Mayer FL, Menzikova OV, Chuyko GM (1993) Cholinesterases of aquatic animals. *Rev Environ Contam Toxicol* 132: 117–142.
- Kristoff G, Guerrero NR, Cochón AC (2010) Inhibition of cholinesterases and carboxylesterases of two invertebrate species, *Biomphalaria glabrata* and *Lumbriculus variegatus*, by the carbamate pesticide carbaryl. *Aquat Toxicol* 96(2): 115–23.
- Laguerre C, Sanchez-Hernandez JC, Köhler HR, Triebskorn R, Capowiez Y, Rault M, Mazzia C (2009) B-type esterases in the snail *Xeropicta derbentina*: An enzymological analysis to evaluate their use as biomarkers of pesticide exposure. *Environ Pollut* 157: 199–207.
- Leticia AG, Gerardo GB (2008) Determination of esterase activity and characterization of cholinesterases in the reef fish *Haemulon plumieri*. *Ecotoxicol Environm Saf* **71**: 787–797.
- Li M-H (2008) Effects of nonionic and ionic surfactants on survival, oxidative stress, and cholinesterase activity of planarian. *Chemosphere* **70**: 1796–1803
- MacGregor JA, Plunkett LM, Youngren SH, Manley A, Plunkett JB, Starr TB (2005) Humans appear no more sensitive than laboratory animals to the inhibition of red blood cell cholinesterase by dichlorvos. *Regulatory Toxicol Pharmacol* 43: 150–167.
- Magnotti RA, Zaino JP, McConnell RS (1994) Pesticide-sensitive fish muscle cholinesterases. Compar Biochem Physiol Part C: Pharmaco, Toxicol Endocrinol 108(2): 187–194.
- Mack A, Robitzki A (2000) The key role of butyrylcholinesterase during neurogenesis and neural disorders: an antisense-5'butyrylcholinesterase-DNA study. *Progress in Neurobiol* 60: 607–628.
- Malany S, Baker N, Verweyst N, Medhekar R, Quinn DM, Velan B, Kronman C, Shafferman A (1999) Theoretical and experimental investigations of electrostatic effects on acetylcholinesterase catalysis and inhibition. *Chemico-Biolog Interact* 119–120: 99–110.
- Massoulié J, Perrier N, Noureddine H, Liang D, Bon S (2008) Old and new questions about cholinesterases. *Chemico-Biolog Interact* 175: 30–44
- Massoulié J, Bon S (1982) The molecular forms of cholinesterase and acetylcholinesterase in vertebrates. Ann Rev Neurosci 5: 57–106.
- Maul JD, Farris JL (2005) Monitoring exposure of northern cardinals, *Cardinalis cardinalis*, to cholinesterase-inhibiting pesticides: enzyme activity, reactivations, and indicators of environmental stress. *Environ Toxicol Chem* 24(7): 1721–30.
- McInnes PF, Andersen DE, Hoff DJ, Hooper MJ, Kinkell LL (1996) Monitoring exposure of nestling songbirds to agricultural application of an organophosphorus insecticide using cholinesterase activity. *Environ Toxicol Chem* 15(4): 544–552.
- Melo JB, Agostinho P, Oliveira CR (2003) Involvement of oxidative stress in the enhancement of acetylcholinesterase activity induced by amyloid beta-peptide. *Neurosci Res* 45: 117–127.
- Metcalfe M, McWilliams B, Hueth B, Van Steenwyk R, Sunding D, Swoboda A, Zilberman D (2002) Report: The Economic Importance of Organophosphates in California Agriculture. California Department of Food and Agriculture.
- Monteiro M, Quintaneiro C, Morgado F, Soares AMVM, Guilhermino L (2005) Characterization of the cholinesterases present in head tissues of the estuarine fish *Pomatoschistus microps*: Application to biomonitoring. *Ecotoxicol Environ Saf* **62**: 341–347
- Mora P, Fournier D, Narbonne JF (1999) Cholinesterases from the marine mussels Mytilus galloprovincialis Lmk. and M. edulis L. and from the freshwater bivalve Corbicula fluminea Müller. Compar Biochem Physiol Part C 122: 353–361.
- Nunes B, Carvalho F, Guilhermino L (2005) Characterization and use of the total head soluble cholinesterases from mosquitofish (*Gambusia holbrooki*) for screening of anticholinesterase activity. J Enzym Inhibit Medic Chem 20(4): 369–376.
- Padilla S (1995) Regulatory and research issues related to cholinesterase inhibition. *Toxicology* **102**: 215–220.
- Panda S, Sahu SK (2004) Recovery of acetylcholine esterase activity of *Drawida willsi* (Oligochaeta) following application of three pesticides to soil. *Chemosphere* **55**: 283–290.

- Parsons KC, Matz AC, Hooper MJ, Pokras MA (1999) Monitoring wading bird exposure to agricultural chemicals using serum cholinesterase activity. *Environ Toxicol Chem* **19**(5): 1317–1323.
- Pham TPT, Cho CW, Yun YS (2010) Environmental fate and toxicity of ionic liquids: A review. *Water Res* 44: 352–372.
- Principato GB, Contenti S, Talesa V, Mangiabene C, Pascolini R, Rosi G (1989) Propionylcholinesterase from Allolobophora caliginosa. Compar Biochem Physiol Part C: Compar Pharmacol 94(1): 23–27.
- Principato GB, Ambrosini MV, Menghini A, Giovannini E, Dell'Agata M (1978) Multiple forms of acetylcholinesterase in *Allolobophora caliginosa*: Purification and partial characterization. *Compar Biochem Physiol Part C: Compar Pharmacol* 61(1): 147–151.
- Rahman MF, Siddiqui MKJ, Jamil K (2000) Inhibition of Acetylcholinesterase and Different ATPases by a Novel Phosphorothionate (RPR-II) in Rat Brain. *Ecotoxicol Environ Saf* 47: 125–129.
- Rault M, Mazzia C, Capowiez Y (2007) Tissue distribution and characterization of cholinesterase activity in six earthworm species. *Compar Biochem Physiol, Part B* 147: 340–346.
- Rocío Marcos M, Sánchez-Yague J, Hernéndez-Hernández A, Llanillo M (1998) Amphiphilic and hydrophilic forms of acetylcholinesterase from sheep platelets. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta* 1415: 163–173.
- Rodríguez-Castellano L, Sanchez-Hernandez JC (2007a) Earthworm biomarkers of pesticide contamination: Current status and perspectives. *J Pesticide Sci* **32**: 360–371.
- Rodríguez-Castellanos L, Sanchez-Hernandez JC (2007b) Chemical Reactivation and Aging Kinetics of Organophosphorus-Inhibited Cholinesterases from Two Earthworms Species. *Environ Toxicol Chem* 26(9): 1992–2000.
- Rodríguez-Fuentes G, Armstrong J, Schlenk D (2008) Characterization of muscle cholinesterases from two demersal flatfish collected near a municipal wastewater outfall in Southern California. *Ecotoxicol Environ Saf* 69: 466–471.
- Rodríguez-Fuentes G, Gold-Bouchot G (2004) Characterization of cholinesterase activity from different tissues of Nile tilapia (*Oreochromus niloticus*). *Mar Environ Res* **58**: 505–509.
- Romani R, Antognelli C, Baldracchini F, De Santis A, Isani G, Giovannini E, Rosi G (2003) Increased acetylcholinesterase activities in specimens of *Sparus auratus* exposed to sublethal copper concentrations. *Chemico-Biological Interact* 145: 321–329.
- Sanchez JC, Fossi MC, Focardi S (1997) Serum "B" Esterases as a Nondestructive Biomarker for Monitoring the Exposure of Reptiles to Organophosphorus Insecticides. *Ecotoxicol Environ* Saf 37: 45–52.
- Sánchez-Fortún S, Barahona V (2001) The use of carbamates, atropine, and 2-pyridine aldoxime methoiodide in the protection of *Artemia salina* against poisoning by carbophenothion. *Environ Toxicol Chem* 20(9): 2008–2013.
- Sánchez-Hernandez JC (2007) Ecotoxicological perspectives of B-esterases in the assessment of pesticide contamination. In: Plattenberg RH (ed.) Environmental Pollution: New Research. Nova Science Publishers, New York, USA, pp. 1–45.
- Sánchez-Hernández JC, Carbonell R, Henríquez Pérez A, Montealegre M, Gómez L (2004) Inhibition of plasma butyrylcholinesterase activity in the lizard *Gallotia galloti palmae* by pesticides: a field study. *Environ Pollut* **132**: 479–488.
- Sanchez-Hernandez JC (2003) Evaluating reptile exposure to cholinesterase-inhibiting agrochemicals by serum butyrylcholinesterase activity. *Environ Toxicol Chem* **22**(2): 296–301.
- Sanchez-Hernandez JC, Sanchez BM (2002) Lizard cholinesterases as biomarkers of pesticide exposure: enzymological characterization. *Environ Toxicol Chem* **21**(11): 2319–25.
- Sánchez-Hernandez JC (2001) Wildlife exposure to organophosphorus insecticides. *Rev Environ Contam Toxicol* 172: 21–63.
- Sánchez-Hernandez JC, Walker CH (2000) In vitro and in vivo cholinesterase inhibition in *Lacertides* by phosphonate- and phosphorothioate-type organophosphates. *Pesticide Biochem Physiol* **67**: 1–12.

- Sancho E, Fernandez-Vega C, Sanchez M, Ferrando MD, Andreu-Moliner E (2000) Alterations on AChE Activity of the Fish Anguilla anguilla as Response to Herbicide-Contaminated Water. *Ecotoxicol Environ Saf* 46: 57–63.
- Sancho E, Ferrando MD, Andreu E (1998) In vivo inhibition of AChE activity in the European eel *Anguilla anguilla* exposed to technical grade fenitrothion. *Comparat Biochem Physiol Part C* **120**: 389–395.
- Sandahl JF, Baldwin DH, Jenkins JJ, Scholz NL (2005) Comparative thresholds for acetylcholinesterase inhibition and behavioral impairment in Coho salmon exposed to chlorpyrifos. *Environ Toxicol Chem* 24(1): 136–145.
- Schmidt SR (2003) Reptile Cholinesterase Characterization and Use in Monitoring Anticholinesterases. Thesis in Environmental Toxicology. Texas Tech University.
- Schmidt GH, Ibrahim NMM (1994) Heavy metal content (Hg2+, Cd2+, Pb2+) in various body parts: Its impact on cholinesterase activity and binding glycoproteins in the grasshopper *Aiolopus thalassinus* adults. *Ecotoxicol Environ Saf* 29(2): 148–164.
- Scott-Fordsmand JJ, Weeks JM (2000) Biomarkers in earthworms. *Rev Environ Contam Toxicol* **165**:117–59.
- Schweitzer ES (1993) Regulated and constitutive secretion of distinct molecular forms of acetylcholinesterase from PC12 cells. *J Cell Sci* **106**: 731–740.
- Small DH, Michaelson S, Sberna G (1996) Non-classical actions of cholinesterases: role in cellular differentiation, tumorigenesis and Alzheimer's disease. *Neurochem Internat* 5/6: 453–483.
- Solé M, Lobera G, Lima D, Reis-Henriques MA, Santos MM (2008) Esterases activities and lipid peroxidation levels in muscle tissue of the shanny *Lipophrys pholis* along several sites from the Portuguese Coast. *Mar Pollut Bull* 56: 999–1007.
- Somnuek C, Cheevaporn V, Saengkul C and Beamish FWH (2007) Variability in Acetylcholinesterase upon Exposure to Chlorpyrifos and Carbaryl in Hybrid Catfish. *ScienceAsia* 33: 301–305.
- Stefano B, Ilaria C, Silvano F (2008) Cholinesterase activities in the scallop *Pecten jacobaeus*: Characterization and effects of exposure to aquatic contaminants. *Sci Tot Env* 392: 99–109.
- Stenersen J, Brekke E, Engelstad F (1992) Earthworms for toxicity testing; species differences in response towards cholinesterase inhibiting insecticides. *Soil Biol Biochem* 24(12): 1761–1764.
- Stenersen J (1980) Esterases of earthworms. Part I: Characterisation of the cholinesterases in Eisenia foetida (Savigny) by substrates and inhibitors. Compar Biochem Physiol Part C: Compar Pharmacol 66(1): 37–44.
- Sturm A, Silva de Assis HC, Hansen PD (1999a) Cholinesterases of marine teleost fish: enzymological characterization and potential use in the monitoring of neurotoxic contamination. *Mar Environ Res* 47: 389–398.
- Sturm A, Wogram J, Hansen PD, Liess M (1999b) Potential use of cholinesterase in monitoring low levels of organophosphates in small streams: natural variability in three-spined stickleback (*Gasterosteus aculeatus*) and relation to pollution. *Environ Toxicol Chem* 18(2): 194–200.
- Talesa V, Romani R, Antognelli C, Giovannini E, Rosi G (2001) Soluble and membrane-bound acetylcholinesterases in *Mytilus galloprovincialis* (Pelecypoda: *Filibranchia*) from the northern Adriatic sea. *Chemico-Biological Interact* **134**: 151–166.
- Talesa V, Romani R, Rosi G, Giovannini E (1997) Acetylcholinesterase in Spirographis spallanzanii (Polychaeta: Sedentaria): Presence of two dimeric membrane-bound forms. Biochimie 79: 397–405.
- Talesa V, Grauso M, Giovannini E, Rosi G, Toutant JP (1995a) Acetylcholinesterase in tentacles in *Octopus vulgaris* (cephalopoda). Histochemical localization and characterization of a specific high salt-soluble and heparin-soluble fraction of globular forms. *Neurochem Internat* 27(2): 201–211.
- Talesa V, Grauso M, Giovannini E, Rosi G, Toutant JP (1995b) Solubilization, molecular forms, purification and substrate specificity of two acetylcholinesterases in the medicinal leech (*Hirudo medicinalis*). *Biochem J* **306**: 687–692.
- Tsim KWK (1998) The signaling pathway of calcitonin gene-related peptide-induced acetylcholinesterase expression in muscle is mediated by cyclic AMP. Abstract book of the Xth International Symposium on Cholinergic Mechanisms, Arcachon, France September 1–5, 1998: 109.

- Valbonesi P, Sartor G, Fabbri E (2003) Characterization of cholinesterase activity in three bivalves inhabiting the North Adriatic sea and their possible use as sentinel organisms for biosurveillance programmes. *Sci To Environ* **312**: 79–88.
- Varó I, Navarro JC, Amat F, Guilhermino L (2003) Effect of dichlorvos on cholinesterase activity of the European sea bass (*Dicentrarchus labrax*). *Pesticide Biochem Physiol* **75**: 61–72.
- Varó I, Navarro JC, Amat F, Guilhermino L(2002) Characterisation of cholinesterases and evaluation of the inhibitory potential of chlorpyrifos and dichlorvos to *Artemia salina* and *Artemia parthenogenetica*. *Chemosphere* **48**: 563–569.
- Vermeire T, McPhail R, Waters M (2001) D. Organophosphorous pesticides in the environment. World Health Organization. IV. Meeting Report of the International Workshop on Approaches to Integrated Risk Assessment: 1–18.
- Wan DCC, Choi RCY, Siow NL, Tsim KWK (2000) The promoter of human acetylcholinesterase is activated by a cyclic adenosine 3', 5'-monophosphate-dependent pathway in cultured NG108-15 neuroblastoma cells. *Neurosc Lett* 288: 81–85.
- Wang J, Grisle S, Schlenk D (2001) Effects of Salinity on Aldicarb Toxicity in Juvenile Rainbow Trout (Oncorhynchus mykiss) and Striped Bass (Morone saxatilis × chrysops) Toxicolog Sci 64: 200–207.
- Wogram J, Sturm A, Segner H, Liesse M (2001) Effects of parathion on acetylcholinesterase, butyrilcholinesterase, and carboxylesterase in three-spined stickleback (*Gasterosteus aculeatues*) following short-term exposure. *Environ Toxicol Chem* 20(7): 1528–1531.
- Xuereb B, Noury P, Felten V, Garric J, Geffard O (2007) Cholinesterase activity in *Gammarus pulex* (Crustacea Amphipoda): characterization and effects of chlorpyrifos. *Toxicology* 236: 178–189.
- Yang L, He HY, Zhang XJ (2002) Increased expression of intranuclear AChE involved in apoptosis of SK-N-SH cells. *Neurosci Res* 42: 261–268.
- Zinkl JG, Lochkart WL, Kenny SA, Ward FJ (1991) The effects of cholinesterase inhibiting insecticides on fish. In: Cholinesterase-Inhibiting Insecticides. Their Impact on wildlife and the Environment. Mineau P (ed), pp. 234–243. Elsevier, New York.